RECEIVED

JUN 13 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001459
On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals of South Carolina
Unpublished Opinion No. 2016-UP-168—Filed April 6, 2016

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company,
and Gilliam Construction Company, Inc. Respondents,

v.

Eagle Windows & Doors, Inc., Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

G. Dana Sinkler
S.C. Bar No. 5138
2180 Rosebank Plantation Road
Wadmalaw Island, SC 29487
(843) 224-1758
Of Gibbs & Holmes, PC
171 Church St., Suite 110
Charleston, SC 29401

and

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Eagle was a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation, because there was no commonality of ownership?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Eagle abandoned the issue of whether Nationwide failed to prove a manufacturing or design defect?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural History

This appeal arises from a lawsuit filed by Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter “Nationwide”) and its insured, Gilliam Construction Company, Inc. (hereinafter “Gilliam”) in which those parties sought to impose successor liability on Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (hereinafter “Petitioner” and “Eagle”) for alleged defects in windows installed in a home constructed by Gilliam for homeowners Renaul and Karen Abel in 1999. Nationwide and Gilliam settled with the Abels for \$210,000. They then filed the underlying contribution action, seeking repayment of the settlement proceeds from several defendants, including Petitioner Eagle. (Appendix p. 24).

In an order dated April 29, 2014, the circuit court held that Eagle was a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation and thereby imposed liability on Eagle as the buyer of the assets of the original window manufacturer. (Appendix p. 4). The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court’s judgment as to the issue of successor liability, with Judge Konduros dissenting, in an unpublished opinion filed on April 6, 2016. (Appendix p. 651). The Court of Appeals denied rehearing (again by a divided panel) on June 9, 2016. Eagle petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari on July 5, 2016. That petition was granted on May 2, 2017.

The issues before this Court are (1) whether the circuit court and Court of Appeals erred by imposing successor liability on Eagle for the allegedly defective

windows, despite the fact that Petitioner is not a mere continuation of the original manufacturer; and (2) whether Eagle abandoned its claim that Nationwide failed to plead or prove a manufacturing defect. The relevant facts are as follows.

II. Facts

The windows at question were manufactured and sold by a Delaware corporation called Eagle & Taylor Company (“Eagle & Taylor”). Eagle & Taylor had two separate divisions, neither of which was incorporated: Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (a fictitious entity) and Taylor Building Products, Inc. (also a fictitious entity). Eagle & Taylor Company itself was a wholly owned subsidiary of American Architectural Products Company (“AAPC”), which was a publicly traded Delaware corporation. (Appendix pp. 127-128; 131).

In December of 2000, AAPC filed for reorganization under the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division. As part of the bankruptcy case, AAPC sought and obtained permission from the Bankruptcy Court to sell substantially all of the assets of Eagle & Taylor Company’s fictitious entity, Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (Appendix p. 133; 170-171). The assets were sold at auction, and the successful bidder was Linsalata Capital Partners Fund IV, L.P. (“Linsalata”). Linsalata was an investment partnership owned by Linsalata Capital Partners, a Cleveland, Ohio middle-market private equity buyout firm. In the course of the bidding process, Linsalata created EWD Acquisition Co. (“EWD Acquisition”), a Delaware corporation, to be its buyer

entity. EWD Acquisition was Linsalata's wholly owned subsidiary. Thus, in May of 2002, the assets of AAPC's subsidiary Eagle & Taylor were sold to EWD Acquisition, wholly owned by Linsalata. (Appendix pp. 170-171). Prior to that sale, none of the partners of Linsalata had any connection, business dealings with, or ownership of Eagle & Taylor Company or AAPC. (Id.) After title to the assets was conveyed, Linsalata's EWD Acquisition changed its name to Eagle Window & Door, Inc. (See Appendix p. 173). It is that entity against which Respondents brought their contribution claim; it is that entity against which the Circuit Court imposed successor liability; and it is that entity which is now the Petitioner before this Court.

When Respondents brought their contribution claim in circuit court, Eagle denied its responsibility for any part of the amount paid by Respondent insurance company to the homeowners. Eagle's defense is that it was the subsequent purchaser of the assets of the original window manufacturing company. Petitioner Eagle itself neither manufactured nor sold the allegedly defective windows. (Appendix pp. 42-43). Thus, Petitioner argued that pursuant to South Carolina common law and the subject Asset Sale Agreement, it was not liable for the actions of the division of AAPC which originally manufactured the windows in the Abels' home. (Appendix pp. 50-58).

Petitioner Eagle does not dispute that the facilities, employees, nature of the business, and many officers of the window and door company remained the same after the asset sale transaction between AAPC/Eagle & Taylor and EWD Acquisition/Linsalata. After all, Eagle & Taylor's window manufacturing division

was AAPC's only profitable company at the time of the sale; Linsalata purchased the business for that very reason, and it retained the same employees, facilities, and most officers so that the company would continue to be successful. However, none of the officers of the window division of Eagle & Taylor (i.e. the fictitious Eagle Window & Door, Inc.) had any control of AAPC, and if any of those officers owned any stock in AAPC at all, it would have amounted to no more than one one hundredth percent of AAPC. (Appendix p. 133). There was only one officer in common between Eagle & Taylor and Petitioner Eagle, and that was its president, David Beeken. After the bankruptcy sale, Beeken was also made a director of and given a 1.7% ownership in EWD Acquisition Co. Nonetheless, at all times subsequent to the asset sale, Linsalata had total control of the operations of Eagle until the sale of the company in 2005 to Anderson Windows. (Appendix pp. 174-175).

III. The Decision of the Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's judgment on the issue of successor liability, with Judge Konduros dissenting, in an unpublished opinion filed on April 6, 2016. (Appendix pp. 651-663). Petitioner sought a writ of certiorari to review that decision, because the Court of Appeals' holding is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Simmons v. Mark Lift Indus., Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 312, 622 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2005).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Imposed Successor Liability on Petitioner, which Had No Ownership in Common with Its Predecessor Corporation.

The Court of Appeals' holding is in conflict with the Supreme Court's established doctrine on the liability of a successor corporation for the debts or deeds of its predecessor. The law in South Carolina is clear: a purchasing company will not be held liable for the acts of its predecessor in the absence of fraud, agreement, de facto merger, or a commonality of ownership between the predecessor and successor company. It is error to impose liability on the Petitioner under the facts of the present case, because none of those criteria apply.

The law presumes that when one corporation purchases the assets of another, it does not assume the seller corporation's liabilities as part of the transaction. *Brown v. American Ry. Express Co.*, 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924). This presumption of non-liability exists in the common law governing corporations in order to encourage the free alienability of corporate assets, to limit shareholders' exposure to liability, and thereby to facilitate the formation and investment of capital. *Restatement (Third) of Torts: Prod. Liab.* §12 cmt. a (Am. Law. Inst. 1998).¹ Thus, in South Carolina, and across the country, "[a] successor or purchasing company ordinarily is not liable

¹ See also, *Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability* § 12, cmt. b at p.211: "[A] majority of courts have concluded that the substantial social costs of a more expansive liability rule would be incurred without even benefitting very many tort plaintiffs because dissolving corporations would switch to piecemeal sales of assets to avoid that liability."

for the debts of the predecessor or selling company.” *Simmons v. Mark Lift Indus., Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 312, 622 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2005) (emphasis added).

The *Simmons* Court, like the majority of jurisdictions nationwide, recognized four instances in which the presumption of a successor corporation’s non-liability may be overcome. A purchasing corporation will only be held liable for the acts of its predecessor if “(1) there was an agreement to assume such debts, (2) the circumstances surrounding the transaction warrant a finding of a consolidation or merger of the two corporations, (3) the successor company was a mere continuation of the predecessor, or (4) the transaction was entered into fraudulently for the purpose of wrongfully defeating creditors’ claims.” *Simmons* at 312, 215 (emphasis added), *citing Brown*. The circuit court erroneously held that, under the third exception, the Petitioner is a “mere continuation” of its predecessor. A divided Court of Appeals wrongly agreed.

A. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has restricted successor liability under the mere continuation exception to instances where the successor and predecessor corporations have common ownership.

South Carolina jurisprudence on the “mere continuation” exception is unambiguous: the mere continuation exception is applicable “**only when there is commonality of ownership**” between the seller and purchaser corporations. *Simmons*, at 312 n.1, 215 n.1 (emphasis in original). The rule established by this Court states:

[T]he majority of courts interpreting the mere continuation exception have found it applicable **only when there is commonality of**

ownership, i.e., the predecessor and successor corporations have substantially the same officers, directors, or shareholders. We decline to extend the exception to cases in which there is no such commonality of officers, directors and shareholders.

Simmons v. Mark Lift, 366 S.C. at 312 n.1, 622 S.E.2d at 215 n.1 (underlined emphasis added).

The facts in *Simmons* shed light on the Court's holding and bear many similarities to the present case. In *Simmons*, the plaintiff was injured in 1999 by equipment manufactured by Mark Industries ("Mark") in 1990. In 1991, Mark filed for bankruptcy, and its motion to sell various assets was granted by the bankruptcy court. Terex was the winning bidder at auction, where it purchased from Mark: "the inventory of supplies, raw materials, work in progress, finished goods, trademarks, service marks, trade names, goodwill, all intellectual property, such as drawings, designs, patents, licenses, and technology." *Simmons* at 214. The injured plaintiff claimed that Terex was liable for his injuries under the theory of successor liability. The Supreme Court granted certification from the United States District Court of South Carolina to address questions of successor liability. It held:

Our opinion in *Brown* sets forth the proper test to determine, in a products liability action, whether there is successor liability of a company which purchases the assets of an unrelated company....Further, we conclude a plaintiff may maintain a state law-based product liability claim under a successor liability theory against a successor corporation which purchased the predecessor's assets in a voluntary sale approved by the federal bankruptcy court **provided** one of the exceptions set forth in the *Brown* opinion applies.

Simmons at 215 (emphasis in original), citing *Brown v. American Ry. Express Co.*, 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924).²

In a lengthy dissent, Justice Burnett urged that the facts and circumstances of the sale to Terex warranted an expansion of *Brown*'s mere continuation exception to include liability for successor corporations which, among other things, continue to manufacture the same product line, use the same equipment, and use the predecessor's trade names, advertising, and intellectual property. *Simmons* at 221 (Burnett, J., *dissenting*). However, the Court's majority explicitly rejected Justice Burnett's proposed analysis and restricted liability under the mere continuation exception to those instances where the predecessor and successor share a common ownership. *Simmons* at 312 n.1, 215 n.1.

B. The majority of other jurisdictions require common ownership between a predecessor and successor corporations as a threshold to imposing liability on a successor under the mere continuation exception.

While there is no discussion of the rationale behind the Court's decision in *Simmons*, courts in other jurisdictions have elaborated on the policy behind the mere continuation exception and have limited application of the exception to situations in which the asset sale was accomplished for the purpose of defrauding creditors. Those Courts observe that the "exception is designed to prevent a situation whereby the specific purpose of acquiring assets is to place those assets out of the reach of the

² The *Simmons* case received considerable attention from the South Carolina Bar and business organizations. In addition to the briefs filed by the parties, amicus curiae briefs were also filed on behalf of the South Carolina Trial Lawyers Association, the South Carolina Manufacturers' Alliance and the Products Liability Advisory Council, Inc.

predecessor's creditors." *Vernon v. Schuster*, 688 N.E.2d 1172 at 1176 (Ill. 1997), quoting *Baltimore Luggage Co. v. Holtzman*, 562 A.2d 1286 at 1293 (Md. App. 1989) (holding that successor's retention of a minority interest in predecessor was insufficient grounds to invoke "mere continuation" exception absent indicia of fraud). In particular, the exception is meant to prevent a company from reinventing itself in a sham sale in order to escape its liabilities. *Grand Lab., Inc. v. Midcon Lab*, 32 F.3d 1277, 1283 (8th Cir. 1994) (applying Iowa law) ("parties cannot circumvent the mere continuation exception by inserting...sham owners and directors of a new company that is in substance the predecessor.")³

Across the country, most courts emphasize the importance of shareholder continuity in establishing a mere continuation. The test used in the majority of jurisdictions "is whether there is a continuation of the corporate entity of the seller—not whether there is a continuation of the seller's business operations." *Vernon* at 1176 (emphasis added). In evaluating the similarity between the predecessor and

³ In her article on this topic, Professor Marie Reilly emphasizes that the mere continuation exception focuses on continuity as evidence of fraud, and not as independent justification for imposing successor liability:

A transferee should be liable as a successor not because it continues some attributes of the transferor, but because it colluded with the transferor in fraud, or at the time of the transfer reasonably should have known that the debtor/transferor planned to hide assets from creditors. Evidence of continuity—of shareholders or other insiders, business operations, or products line—can be probative on the question of collusion and on that of the transferee's access to information about a future fraud on creditors. Absent this critical evidence, the fact that the transferee uses the acquired assets in the same way as the transferor did, or continues to manufacture a similar product line, does not make the transfer sufficiently 'unfair' to the transferor's creditors to justify the imposition of their loss on the transferee.

M. Reilly, *Making Sense of Successor Liability*, 31 Hofstra L. Rev. 745, 793-94 (2003).

successor corporations, courts look primarily to identity of ownership. *See Pancratz v. Mosanto Co.*, 547 N.W.2d 198 at 201 (Iowa 1996) (“We have never applied the mere continuation exception where the buying and selling corporations had different owners”); *Welco Industries, Inc. v. Applied Cos.*, 617 N.E.2d 1129 at 1134 (Ohio 1993) (“It is not in dispute that Vickers and Welco were strangers and that the owners of Vickers are not the owners of Welco”); *Taylor v. Atlas Safety Equip. Co.*, 808 F. Supp. 1246, 1251 (E.D. Va. 1992) (“Among these three required factors (officers, directors, and stockholders), it appears that identity of ownership is the most important component to sustain a finding of mere continuation”); *In re SunSport, Inc.*, 260 B.R. 88, 105 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2000) (“The most critical element in proving a continuation is showing a common identity of the officers, directors, and stockholders in the selling and purchasing corporations. Of these, identity of ownership is the most important component to sustain a finding of mere continuation.”) *See also* Appendix pp. 660-663, Konduros, J., dissenting.

A look at the Illinois case of *Vernon v. Schuster* illustrates how essential continuity of the corporate entity, manifested in ownership, is to the mere continuation exception. In that case, a father owned a heating and plumbing company as the sole proprietor. In the course of his business, the father installed and annually serviced a boiler belonging to the plaintiffs. In fairly rapid succession, the father died, his son inherited the company and began to operate it as a sole proprietorship, and the plaintiffs’ boiler failed. Plaintiffs brought a negligence claim, alleging that the son had succeeded the liability of his father. Even though the son had worked

with his father before his death, and even though, after his father's death, the son retained the company name, operated the same sort of business out of the same location, and serviced his father's same customers, the Supreme Court of Illinois held that, as a matter of law, the son's business was not a mere continuation of his father's.

In so doing, that Court noted:

Common identity of ownership is lacking when one sole proprietorship succeeds another. It is well settled that a sole proprietorship has no legal identity separate from that of the individual who owns it. The sole proprietor may do business under a fictitious name if he or she chooses. However, doing business under another name does not create an entity distinct from the person operating the business....In this case, it must be remembered that 'Diversey Heating' had no legal existence. Diversey Heating was only a pseudonym for James Schuster. Once he died, Diversey Heating ceased to exist. Now, Diversey Heating is only a pseudonym for defendant.

Based on the obvious lack of common identity of ownership, the continuation exception to the rule of successor corporate nonliability cannot be applied to defendant.

Vernon v. Schuster, 688 N.E.2d 1172, 228 Ill. Dec. 195 at 199-200 (Ill. 1997).

As the record demonstrates, Petitioner Eagle is an entirely separate corporate entity from its predecessor, AAPC/Eagle & Taylor. The predecessor company—the windows division of Eagle & Taylor—was wholly owned by AAPC, a publicly traded corporation. It was purchased by an unrelated corporate entity, EWD Acquisition, which was wholly owned by Linsalata, a group of partners out of Ohio who operated a private equity buyout firm. When Linsalata purchased the assets of the windows division of Eagle & Taylor, it named as the company's directors several of its own members. Linsalata did retain many of the officers of the original company, and it continued to operate the windows division in much the same manner as it had been

operated prior to its sale. However, no members of Linsalata ever owned any stock in AAPC, nor were they involved in its management as officers or directors.

Linsalata's purchase of AAPC's subsidiary was not undertaken as a sham sale to avoid liability; it was an arms-length transaction between entirely unrelated corporate entities. As Judge Konduros points out in her dissent, there was never a common identity of ownership between the predecessor and successor corporations in this case.

C. The Court of Appeals disregarded binding precedent when it applied a continuity of enterprise theory to find that Petitioner was a mere continuation of its predecessor.

Under the commonality of ownership test set forth by this Court in *Simmons v. Mark Lift*, the Court of Appeals ought to have held that Petitioner Eagle is not a mere continuation of its predecessor. However, the Court of Appeals ignored the proper test and instead incorrectly relied on a theory of continuity of enterprise, which was advocated in his dissent by Justice Burnett, and which was specifically rejected by the majority of the Court.

In his dissenting opinion in *Simmons*, Justice Burnett argued zealously that South Carolina should adopt the doctrine of continuity of enterprise in imposing successor liability. Justice Burnett urged the Court to consider factors, such as whether a successor "held itself out to the world as a continuation of the predecessor through continued use of the predecessor's corporate identity, trade names, advertising, or other intellectual property;" "whether the successor continued to manufacture substantially the same product line as the processor;" "whether the

successor retained the predecessor's managers, employees, or sales force;" and "whether the successor continued to use the predecessor's equipment, supplier, dealer, or customer lists." *Simmons* at 318-324 (Burnett, J., *dissenting*). These factors were not, and never have been, adopted as the law of South Carolina.

In fact, the majority of the Supreme Court, in a succinct footnote, rejected Justice Burnett's opposing twelve pages of analysis and held instead that successor liability may be imposed only where there is commonality of ownership. *Simmons* at 312 n.1, 215 n.1. The Court noted, "[e]ssentially, the dissent advocates an expansion of the mere continuation exception." *Id.* After acknowledging the dissent's argument, the Court stated its holding: "We decline to extend the exception to cases in which there is no such commonality of officers, directors and shareholders." *Id.* The Court confirmed this position by refusing to review *Walton v. Mazda of Rock Hill*, which cites *Simmons* for the proposition that the "Supreme Court declined to extend the mere continuation exception to situations where there is no commonality between officers, directors, and shareholders of the seller and purchaser." 376 S.C. 301, 307, 657 S.E.2d 67, 70 (Ct. App. 2008).

In the present case—in spite of this Court's holding in *Simmons*—the majority of the Court of Appeals improperly applied a continuity of enterprise test (exactly as Justice Burnett's dissent urged), rather than correctly restricting analysis to commonality of ownership (as the *Simmons* Court ultimately held). In so doing, the divided Court of Appeals was erroneously motivated by the idea that Eagle "essentially held itself out as an ongoing business." (Appendix p. 654). For example,

the majority proclaimed as a basis for its decision that “Eagle’s own website demonstrates Eagle is a mere continuation of itself.” The Court of Appeals went on to pronounce:

Eagle accepted and benefited from the goodwill, name recognition, and history of the Eagle brand. Further, Eagle continued to occupy the same space and manufacture the same products with the same employees. It marketed, manufactured, and continued to sell the same products under the same company name. This evidence supports the circuit court’s factual findings.

(Appendix p. 656). It is critical to note that when it even considered the above factors, the Court of Appeals was disregarding the binding precedent of the Supreme Court’s *Simmons* decision, and the decision of its own Court in *Walton*, which requires proof of commonality of ownership as a threshold for successor liability.

D. Petitioner Eagle may not be held liable for the torts of its predecessor because it lacks commonality of ownership with its predecessor.

There is no commonality of ownership in the present case, as Judge Konduros points out in her dissent, and as the record demonstrates, because the shareholders and directors of the Seller, AAPC, and the Purchaser, Linsalata, were not the same. This lack of commonality is clearly established by the Affidavit of Steven Perry,⁴ the

⁴ The Affidavit of Steven Perry (Co-President of Linsalata Capital Partners) states, in paragraph 4: “Prior to this, LinCap had no business dealings, nor any contact with Eagle & Taylor d/b/a Eagle Window & Door, Inc., or its parent AAPC.” In paragraph 14: “To the knowledge of Affiant, prior to Lincap’s acquisition of the assets, the officers of Eagle & Taylor Company d/b/a Eagle Window & Door, Inc. held no ownership interest in Eagle & Taylor Company.” (Appendix pp. 410-415).

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