THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 27 2017

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

J. Mark Hayes, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001459
On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals of South Carolina
Unpublished Opinion No. 2016-UP-168—Filed April 6, 2016.

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company,
and Gilliam Construction Company, Inc.....Respondents,

v.

Eagle Windows & Doors, Inc.....Petitioner

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Jason M. Imhoff (SC Bar #: 69355)
Ginger D. Goforth (SC Bar #: 6904)
THE WARD LAW FIRM, PA
PO Box 5663
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 582-3075
(864) 585-3090
jimhoff@wardfirm.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals properly held that Eagle was a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation and thus subject to successor liability.

The Court of Appeals and the Circuit Court properly found that Eagle was a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation based upon all of the evidence, including the fact that Eagle itself considers itself to be the same company before and after the sale. In South Carolina, a Plaintiff may maintain a state-based product liability claim under a successor liability theory against a successor corporation which purchased a predecessor's assets in a voluntary sale approved by the Federal Bankruptcy Court. *Simmons v. Marklift Industries, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 622 S.E.2d 213 (2005); *Brown v. American Ry. Express Co.*, 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924). The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Brown* stated:

In the absence of a statute, a successor or purchasing company ordinarily is not liable for the debts of a predecessor or selling company unless (1) there was an agreement to assume such debts, (2) the circumstances surrounding the transaction warrants a finding of a consolidation or merger of the two corporations, (3) the successor company was a mere continuation of the predecessor, or (4) the transaction was entered into fraudulently for the purpose of wrongfully defeating creditors' claims. *Id.* at 123 S.E.2d 97 (emphasis added). The test used to determine whether a successor corporation is a mere continuation of its predecessor was set forth in *Simmons v. Marklift Industries, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 313, 622 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2005). That court held that a successor corporation is a mere continuation of its predecessor corporation when the predecessor and successor corporations have substantially the same officers, directors, or

shareholders. *Simmons v. Marklift Industries, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 313, 622 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2005). The Court of Appeals properly applied the *Simmons* standard.

At the trial of this case, the Circuit Court heard testimony and received evidence establishing that Petitioner's pre- and post-bankruptcy corporations had many of the same officers, directors, and shareholders and ruled that, "The predecessors and successor Eagle companies shared directors, officers, and shareholders" as a finding of fact. David Beeken, Andrew Wickham, Ronald Vander Weerd, Charles Daoud, and Steven R. Stoppelmoor were shareholders of Eagle Windows prior to and after the sale of the company. (Appendix pp. 4-23). Eagle's President, David Beeken, was the President of Eagle prior to and after the sale. (Appendix pp. 4-23). Further, prior to and after the sale, the following individuals were officers of Eagle: Charles A. Daoud, David Beeken, Steven R. Stoppelmoor, Ronald Vander Weerd and Andrew Wickham. (Appendix pp. 3-23).

Thus, post-sale, of the eight officers appointed to lead Eagle, five of the eight were officers of pre-sale Eagle, including President, Vice President, Vice President of Finance, Vice President of Engineering and Controller. Further, David Beeken, Charles Daoud, Steven R. Stoppelmoor, Ronald Vander Weerd, Gregory Taber, and Andrew Wickham were directors of Petitioner pre- and post-bankruptcy. As the evidence supported the lower court's findings, the Court of Appeals properly upheld the same.

What appears lost in the decade of litigation surrounding this case is the intent of the continuation exception to successor liability. The mere continuation exception seeks to prohibit corporations from changing hats for the purpose of escaping debts and liabilities if the predecessor and successor corporation are just a mere continuation of the same entity. In other words, purchasers of products should not be barred from seeking redress for damages caused by

those products because a distant board of detached investors is playing a shell game with the long distance ownership of the corporation.

As stated by Eagle's own marketing materials nothing changed at Eagle through its numerous ownership changes since 1886 and it considered itself autonomous from both AAPC and Linsalata. Petitioner broadcast in its marketing material that Linsalata "to a great extent takes a hands off approach to running a successful company like Eagle". "We work closely with management teams in developing and buying into the strategies, but it is up to management to utilize that strategy and manage that capital wisely to grow the business...without the appropriate level of autonomy it would be difficult for the team to approach that".

Petitioner did not consider Linsalata as the face of Eagle, but simply another parent company in a long list of parent companies. Eagle represented itself as consistent, stable, and able to make it through this "vast series of name changes" due to its President's "leadership and commitment." That President, Mr. Beeken, is the same president that runs it today. Eagle continues to occupy the same space, manufacture the same products with the same employees, and markets, manufactures, and continues to sell the same products under the same company name. Petitioner accepted the goodwill and name recognition of the Eagle Window brand but has specifically attempted to extinguish any potential liability arising from that goodwill despite its complete failure to notify owners of Eagle windows manufactured, marketed, and sold prior to April 2002 that it no longer honored those products or claimed them as its own.

This is the most important fact lost in this decade of litigation: Eagle, itself, considers itself to be the same company today as the day it sold windows to the owner and the builder of the home at the heart of this litigation. It is only through corporate shuffling and dealing that Eagle is able to use the legal system to deny in this litigation the very fact it advertises and

markets all over the country – Eagle is the same stable and trusted company as always despite a “vast series of name changes”. Eagle’s public position, contrasted with its legal position, is and should be the heart of this case. To a purchaser of products, unaware of the legal intricacies of corporate products successor liability law, it appears that Eagle is the same 100 year old stable heartland company, run by the same people, and directed by the same people.

The intent of the exceptions to corporate liability law; promotion of fairness and justice, cannot be determined with a rigid adherence to whether the Court intended to use “and” or “or” or which of the myriad of factors other courts in different jurisdictions utilize in determining the bright line rules. In this case, the officers, directors, and some of the owners of the predecessor and successor corporations remained the same. More importantly, the corporation intentionally, actively, and widely promoted the fact that it was and is the same stable company today as before its multiple sales. That fact cannot be ignored and thrown out regardless of the factors or tests this court ultimately adopts. Eagle is, for all intents and purposes, exactly the same company before and after the sale according to its own marketing materials and public pronouncements.

Justice Burnett stated “[t]he corporate fiction and the rules surrounding it have been of inestimable service in the affairs of business, but they must be applied in such a manner as to promote justice, not to hinder or defeat it.” *Id.* at 323 (citing *Long v Carolina Baking Co.*, 190 S.C. 367, 377, 3 S.E.2d 46, 50 (1939)). Justice Burnett, citing another case with similar facts cited the strong language used by that Court:

The [successor’s] position does not appeal to us; it is an attempt to dodge the damages that [the plaintiff] has sustained by a quirk and technical question of law, and smacks too much of a skin game, and hand stacked and dealt to dealer from the bottom of the deck...By its action [the successor] has allowed the [predecessor] to go out of existence and now proposes to let the [plaintiff] whistle for his money, and by its technicality, which would besmirch the character of any honest man, smacks its lips and licks its chops and congratulates itself on its shrewdness in avoiding its payment of a just claim.

Simmons v. Mark Lift Indus., Inc., 366 S.C. 308, 318, 622 S.E.2d 213, 218 (2005) at 318 (citing *Brabham v. Southern Express Co.*, 124 S.C. 157, 117 S.E. at 368 (1922)).

This decision is in line with the majority of other jurisdictions and comports with the doctrines of fairness and justice. Justice Burnett strenuously opined that the stroke of a corporate pen or blind adherence to unfair rules out of touch with modern realities did not promote justice or allow intelligent adjudication of issues which touched upon the Bankruptcy Court's perceived jurisdiction.

Although the *Simmons* court denied Justice Burnett's request for clarification, it is important to note that it analyzed many of the elements cited by Justice Burnett. That court recorded that the predecessor corporation only operated the manufacturing facility for several months and then closed the plant. It then relocated the assets and equipment to another state. Only three employees of the predecessor continued with the successor and none were officers or directors. Further, the successor corporation operated under a different name than the predecessor corporation and both were defendants in the lawsuit.

This case is substantially different as Eagle is both the successor and predecessor corporation and both corporations bear the same name. Additionally, the evidence reflects that there was no change in operation, facilities, name, or products at Eagle. The directors and officers were and still are essentially the same even through yet another sale.

Eagle, by the stroke of a pen, attempted to end its liability globally, totally, and permanently although there was no financial need to do so. Eagle was not forced into bankruptcy by economics, but rather was dragged through it by its parent company's bankruptcy. As such, the ordinary purpose of bankruptcy was not present for Eagle. Ordinarily bankruptcy's purpose is to provide the debtor with a fresh start, freeing it from the obligations and

responsibilities consequent upon financial misfortune so that it may continue to survive. CJS Bankruptcy § 2. In this case, Eagle was American's only profitable company. Eagle did not require the intervention of the Bankruptcy Court or the protection afforded by it. Therefore, it should not be allowed to use its parent company's fortuitous bankruptcy as a sword with which to sever its entire pre-bankruptcy obligations.

Petitioner's argument on this writ - that *Simmons* requires a finding that the mere continuation doctrine requires overlap of officers, directors, **and** shareholders - is moot and without merit. As the court found that officers, directors, and shareholders were shared between the corporations, the analysis is unnecessary. (Appendix pp. 4-23). It is clear in this case that each of the requirements is satisfied and Eagle, in fact, did continue its operation with all of the same leaders, employees, facilities, products, designs, and marketing materials. The lower court found that the analysis of whether the *Brown* and *Simmons* courts intended overlap of officers and directors or officers or directors was unnecessary because Nationwide and Gilliam proved, and Petitioner did not refute, that officers, directors, and shareholder continued in the successor corporation from the predecessor corporation. Therefore, the lower court properly found that Petitioner's commonality of officers, directors, and shareholders in both the predecessor and successor was sufficient to satisfy the mere continuation exception and deem it liable in this action. The Court of Appeals properly held that this evidence supported the lower court's findings because (1) Eagle used the same name, location, employees, products, and advertising, and/or (2) post-sale Eagle appointed five of pre-sale Eagle's eight officers, including the President and CEO, Executive Vice President, Vice President of Finance, Vice President of Engineering, and Controller. The decision comports with both the *Simmons* decision and the promotion of fairness and justice.

Because the Court of Appeals' opinion follows and properly applies the *Simmons* reasoning, the decision of the Appellate Court must be upheld.